1941

John Christy and Kathryn E. Christy v. Edward L. Guild and Mabel C. Guild : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Defendants assigned as error the sustaining of objections to the following question:

“About how much money did you spend on making the improvements on the inside?”

and in sustaining objections to the following question:

“I will ask you to state whether or not an offer to make accruing installment payments on the contract was made, and if so, what the offer was?”

The court erred in making and entering an order striking all evidence from the record relating to the modification of the contract by oral agreement and conduct. (I, III).

The court erred in directing the jury to return a verdict for the plaintiffs. (IV, VI).

The court erred in imposing a condition on the defendants that they pay in addition to the amount due on the contract, \$300 attorney's fees and court costs not exceeding \$35, and in limiting the time in which the defendants were required to make such payments. (V).

The court erred in considering the equitable issues and in holding as a matter of law that the notice of forfeiture was reasonable and sufficient. (VIII, IX).

The court erred in making and entering Judgment. (VII, X, XI).

ARGUMENT

The assignments of error will be argued under the following headings:

1. The court erred in directing a verdict for the plaintiffs and in making and entering judgment thereon. (Assign. 4, 6, 7, 9, 10 and 11).
2. The court erred in ruling on the evidence. (Assign. 1-3).
3. The court erred in failing and refusing to consider equitable issues. (Assign. 5 and 8).

The pleadings disclose issues upon the following questions:

- (1) The amount delinquent on the contract when suit was brought;
- (2) Whether the contract provisions which required the defendants to make improvements had been waived;
- (3) Whether the contract as modified had been substantially performed by the defendants;
- (4) Whether strict performance of the contract by the defendants had been waived;
- (5) Whether the notice, Exhibit A, was sufficient to terminate the contract, and
- (6) Whether in equity the court should declare a forfeiture of a contract for the purchase of a house and lot upon which more than one-third of the principal amount

has been paid and where \$2,000 in valuable improvements have been placed on the property.

Some of the issues were undoubtedly legal issues which should have been submitted to the jury and some were equitable issues for the determination of the court. This action is for the recovery of specific real property with damages, and falls squarely within the provisions of

Section 104-23-5 of the Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933.

It provides :

“In actions for the recovery of specific real or personal property, with or without damages, or for money claimed as due upon contract or as damages for breach of contract, or for injuries, an issue of fact may be tried by a jury, unless a jury trial is waived or a reference is ordered as provided in this code. Where in these cases there are issues both of law and fact, the issue of law must first be disposed of. In other cases issues of fact must be tried by the court, subject to its power to order any such issue to be tried by a jury or referred to a referee as provided in this code.”

It has been held by this Court that where a case involves both legal and equitable issues, the court should decide the equitable issues and submit the questions of fact to the jury.

Park v. Wilkinson, 21 Utah 279; 60 P. 945.

It is well settled that where there is substantial evidence both ways on a material question of fact, it is error for the trial court to direct a verdict.

Iverson v. Carrington, 60 Utah 79; 206 P. 707.

2 Bancroft's Code Practice and Remedies,
Section 1442, p. 1908 et seq.

For the purpose of arguing the error of the court in directing a verdict for the plaintiffs, let us for the time being disregard the equitable issues. To make a case, the plaintiffs must show a default by the purchasers for which the contract could, under its terms, be forfeited. The defaults relied upon are set out in the notice, Exhibit A, which is by reference, made a part of the complaint. They are:

- (1) Failure to pay monthly payments totalling \$130.
- (2) Failure to pay taxes and insurance totalling \$297.20.
- (3) Failure to make specified improvements.

Since the suit is based upon these defaults, the questions as to whether defendants are guilty of the defaults charged were material. We shall discuss the evidence as to these items in the order mentioned.

The evidence disclosed that \$130 was tendered to the plaintiffs May 20, 1940. (Ab. 19-20). The notice does not call for payment of additional installments. The defendants offered to pay all installment payments called for by the notice before suit was brought. They testified further that they made a payment of \$80 on March 31, 1940. Other payments made after January, 1940, were as follows:

\$70.00 payment on the note February 14, 1940, (Ex. 3); \$88.15, February 14, 1940,

(Ex. E); \$19.00 February, 1940, (Ab. 17-1S), and \$40.00 March, 1940, (Ab. 17).

Mrs. Christy testified that if another payment of some \$25 was made earlier in March in Salt Lake City, it would be on the contract.

The application of payments upon specific months is not made on the contract. From the beginning, it will be noted by examination of Exhibit 1, payments made at irregular intervals, were credited upon the total purchase price. So, under the evidence, there is no support for the contention of the plaintiffs that the delinquencies covered the months from December to April. They did not. The alleged delinquencies of \$130 covered the entire period from the date of the contract, January 24, 1935, to March 31, 1940. As observed above, the last payment of \$80 was made on March 31, 1940. It is well settled that the acceptance of late and irregular payments on a real estate contract, which provides for monthly installment payments, waives the provision in the contract to the effect that time is of the essence and waives the right of the sellers to forfeit the contract without a timely and reasonable notice.

Leone v. Zuniga, 84 Utah 417; 34 P. (2d) 699.

What is a timely and reasonable notice is a question of fact for the jury.

66 C. J. 724, Note 87.

Williamson Heater Co. v. Whitmer, 183 N. W. 404; 191 Iowa 1115.

By accepting the \$80 payment on March 31, 1940, the sellers waived the right to terminate the contract for failure to pay the March payment of \$30 and the April 1st payment of \$30, there being no agreement as to whether the \$80 payment was to

cover old delinquencies on the contract or current monthly payments. \$80 would pay for two and two-thirds months. The notice of forfeiture was served before the May payment fell due. The question of intent of the parties as to application of payments was one for the jury.

The second issue, the delinquent taxes and insurance, involves the note, Exhibit 2. Although it was at first hotly denied by Mrs. Christy, one of the plaintiffs, that the note had anything to do with the contract of purchase, it was finally admitted that the notations in ink on page 2 of the note covered the delinquent taxes and insurance and other items and that they were placed on the note before it was signed and delivered. (Ab. 14). Although the note states that it was for money loaned, and that it has no connection with the contract of purchase, the notations on both the first and second pages clearly indicate the contrary and they are obviously part of the agreement. The evidence shows payments which were applied on the note. Mr. Guild testified that he had paid approximately \$95 on the note. (Ab. 20).

The evidence is in conflict as to whether the note was given and accepted as *payment* of the delinquent taxes and insurance. If the note was given as *payment* of the delinquent taxes and insurance, there was no default under the contract and the court erred in directing a verdict for failure to pay the items of delinquent taxes and insurance when due. The question as to whether the note was given as payment of an installment or as additional security was a question for the jury.

Rathke v. Dexter Horton Bank, 161 Wash.
434; 297 P. 181.

If the note was not given in *payment* it was certainly a written modification of the contract as to

the time of payment of the delinquent taxes and insurance. The contract contained no provision to the effect that if the \$35 monthly installment payments were not made when due, that the holder of the note, whoever it might be, could declare a forfeiture of the real estate contract. In the case of

Spedden v. Sykes, 98 P. 752, 754,
the Court said:

“But where, not only under the contract, but by subsequent agreement of the parties, notes are given for the payment of the purchase price which, in the absence of any agreement to the contrary, would extend the time of payment over the period of limitation fixed by the statute for recovery upon overdue contracts, thus eliminating the implication or express understanding, as the case may be, that time is the essence of the contract, a more difficult question is presented, for it is upon this theory that forfeitures are sustained. 1 Pomeroy’s Equity, Para. 445; Clark v. Lyons, 24 Ill. 105; Shater v. Niver, 9 Mich. 253; Linscott v. Buck, 33 Me. 530 . . .”

“This Court has held the general doctrine that forfeitures are not favored in the law, and that courts should promptly seize upon any circumstance arising out of the contract or relations of the parties that would indicate an election or an agreement to waive the harsh and at times unjust remedy of forfeiture, a remedy which is oftentimes too freely granted by those who have taken no account of the misfortunes and disappointments which conditions, unforeseen

and beyond a party's control, have raised as a bar to performance, however honest may be his intent. *Whiting v. Doughton*, 31 Wash. 327; 71 P. 1026. Equity will enforce forfeitures when it is the contract of the parties that it shall be so. But before making its decree it will consider every agreement, every declaration, and every relation of the parties arising out of the contract; and, if there be anything that warrants a finding that the parties have resolved anew, it will so decree."

It was error for the court to refuse to submit to the jury the issue of fact as to the intention of the parties with respect to the note, Exhibit 2.

Another issue of fact, which should have been submitted to the jury, concerns the alleged default in making the improvements. There is testimony by both Mr. and Mrs. Guild that the plaintiffs knew that the front porch had not been built and the back porch stuccoed, over a period of several years, and that Mr. Christy, in the presence of Mrs. Christy had agreed that it was not the style to put front porches on apartment houses and had "sanctioned" the placing of lumber on the back porch in lieu of stucco. (Mr. Guild, Tr. 110-117; Ab. 16-17). (Mrs. Guild, Tr. 136-138; Ab. 21). This was denied by Mrs. Christy. (Tr. 167; Ab. 25-26).

A plasterer, Parley Powell, testified that about one year ago, he had given Mr. Guild an estimate on the stuccoing job. (Ab. 22). Here was a substantial issue of fact on a material matter — one of the alleged defaults upon which a claim of forfeiture was based. It is well settled that a requirement of a written contract may be orally waived.

The Supreme Court of Utah held in the case of *Hogan v. Swayze*, 65 Utah 380; 237 P. 1097, that a written contract required under the statute of frauds to be in writing may be modified and specific provisions waived by oral agreement. This case is directly in point, both on the facts and the law. See cases from other jurisdictions collected:

66 C. J. 726, Note 25.

The appellants assigned as error the order of the trial court sustaining objections to the question:

“About how much money did you spend on making the improvements on the inside?”

The court also sustained objections to the following question:

“I will ask you to state whether or not an offer to make accruing installment payments on the contract was made, and if so, what the offer was?” (Assign. I, II).

The trial court failed to consider equitable issues presented by the pleadings, and the rulings complained of were consistent with that position. The Supreme Court of Utah has held that in actions for the forfeiture of a real estate contract, the court should determine whether, upon the forfeiture of a contract, it will impose a penalty. If, under the circumstances of the particular case, the forfeiture results in a penalty, it has been held the forfeiture provisions would not be enforced.

Croft v. Jensen, 86 Utah 13; 40 P. (2d)

In this case if forfeiture of the contract is permitted it will impose a penalty. The sellers not only got more than one-third of the principal and all the interest, but were enriched by the improvements.

The defendants offered to prove that the house had been remodeled on the inside and that the reasonable value of the improvements was \$2,000. The evidence shows that payments aggregating \$1647.67 had been made. Thus the plaintiffs had put into the property \$3647.67 in improvements and in money paid. Of the money paid, approximately \$1153.00 was credited to principal. The total purchase price of the property was \$3200. The trial court ignored these facts. It declared a forfeiture for failure to pay a single monthly payment. The evidence shows under the plaintiffs' theory only \$160 was due on the installments on the contract on the date the notice of forfeiture was served. The notice called for only \$130, and not any accruing installments, and accordingly, \$130 was tendered. The note, Exhibit 2, provided for monthly payments of \$35 per month, commencing on the 12th day of December, 1939. Edward L. Guild testified that he paid \$95 on the note, Exhibit 2. This would have paid the December payment, the January payment, and \$25 on the February payment. There is no provision in the note to the effect that upon default the real estate contract may be forfeited. Even if there had been such an agreement at the time the notice was served, there was only one full payment, (April 12) and \$10 on the March payment due. Certainly a court of equity should not direct the forfeiture of a contract upon which

more than one-third of the principal had been paid and where \$2000 in improvements had been made, for such slight defaults.

The California case of

Webber v. Herbert, 46 Cal. App. 84; 188
P. 819,

is closely in point. In that case the purchasers had paid \$2000 of a \$4000 purchase price and they thereafter became delinquent in the payment of interest. The sellers promptly took advantage of the default and declared a forfeiture. The trial court ruled that because of equitable considerations the forfeiture could not be claimed and the Appellate Court not only sustained the trial court, but ordered the appellants to pay to the respondents the sum of \$250 as a penalty for a frivolous appeal. The Court said:

“Such a suit is addressed to the equitable powers of the court. Equity has always looked with marked abhorrence upon forfeitures, and it has been said many times that any unquestioned evidence of sharp practices and over-reaching is sufficient to defeat a complainant in equity who has been guilty of such practices. Neither serious consideration nor citation of authority is necessary to support the conclusion that no party to a contract can insist on the performance of a current condition, such as the payment of taxes, and thereafter repudiate the contract for a prior breach of which he must have known. A court of equity does not permit parties who seek its aid thus to blow hot and cold. Neither may a seller for years disregard a provision

making time of the essence of a contract, litte by litte getting half the value of his land, and then, without notice to the buyer who has been lulled to a false sense of security, enforce a forfeiture for a trifling delay in the payment of interest. (Cases cited).''

The only sign of equitable consideration given by the court may be found in the court's statement on pages 28 to 30 of the abstract. The court said that if the defendants would pay the total amount due on the contract and in addition, \$300 attorney's fees, and \$35 in costs, within one week's time, he would hold up the entry of a judgment.

The Supreme Court of Utah has held that in actions of this kind the sellers cannot recover an attorney's fee.

Forrester v. Cook, 77 Utah 137; 292 P. 206.

Leone v. Zuniga, 84 Utah 417; 34 P. (2d) 699.

Yet the trial court not only refused to let the purchasers pay up the defaults or even the entire balance due on the contract, but added a penalty of \$300 attorney's fees. Under the present business conditions such a proposal could not be complied with in the time given. It was stated to the court that the defendants had been able to raise all but "maybe a hundred or \$200 of the amount due." But the court nevertheless directed a verdict for the plaintiffs and entered a judgment for restitution of the premises and for treble damages, which aggregated \$412.50. Thus, although the documen-

tary evidence shows that the defendants paid more than one-third of the principal amount due on a \$3200 purchase price, and the defendants offered to prove that an old building had been turned into an apartment house at the cost of \$2000, thus putting the property in a condition where it would net \$75 a month, the court entered a judgment for \$412.50 damages. This loss of the payment and investment, was an unjust and unconscionable penalty imposed upon the defendants.

It is respectfully submitted that the judgment should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

Respectfully submitted,

J. D. SKEEN,

E. J. SKEEN,

**Attorneys for Defendants
and Appellants.**