1941

# John Christy and Kathryn E. Christy v. Edward L. Guild and Mabel C. Guild : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

While we believe the Utah cases, cited above, are sufficient authority on the question, we take the liberty of citing to the Court some cases from other jurisdictions illustrating this point. In

36 C. J., page 651, it is stated:

“While it is held under some statutes that a summary proceeding by the landlord to dispossess his tenant cannot be enjoined or stayed by any writ from any court, it is generally held that, in the absence of a statute to the contrary, a court of equity has jurisdiction to enjoin the proceedings. The court will exercise its jurisdiction in a case calling for the exercise of equitable relief, as where the tenant is without an adequate remedy at law, where he has equities which he cannot assert in the summary proceedings . . . .”

Phillips v. Port Townsend Lode, etc.,  
(Wash.), 36 P. 476.

Yukon Inv. Co. v. Crescent Meat Co.,  
(Wash.), 248 P. 377.

Peoples' Mortgage Corp. v. Wilton, (Mich.)  
208 N. W. 60.

O'Brien v. O'Brien, 195 Ill. App. 346.

Aegerter v. Hayes (S. D.), 226 N. W. 345.

Dysart v. Enslow, (Okl.), 54 P. 550.

The contract between the parties shows that the defendants' down payment was \$20.00. The evident consideration, as shown by the record, was that the defendants erect and make the permanent improvements to the front and back of the building, as specified in the contract, which improvements the defendants failed to make. Under these circumstances the defendants had no equity justifying an interference by a court of equity. The judgment in this case, giving the plaintiffs possession of the premises, is not inequitable.

Heard v. Gephart, (Kan.), 233 P. 1044.

Dopp v. Richards, 43 Utah 332; 135 P. 98.

The defendants stipulated at the trial that the reasonable rental value of the premises was \$75.00 per month; the monthly payment under the contract was \$30.00 per month. The evidence further shows that the plaintiffs were very lenient with the defendants, and it is inconceivable how the defendants can claim that the plaintiffs dealt harshly with them, when it appears that they deliberately refused to pay the installments, taxes, and insurance when they had on hand \$1200.00 or \$1300.00, received from the Industrial Commission. We will say more on this subject later in this brief.

---

*The Acceptance of the Defendants' Note, (Defendants' Exhibit 2), By the Plaintiffs Did Not Constitute Payment or Discharge the Debt, or Affect the Contractual Rights Between the Parties.*

Seemingly, the defendants' chief defense in this suit was based upon the theory that the taxes and insurance premiums had been paid by the defendants by reason of plaintiffs' acceptance of Exhibit 2 in the sum of \$485.82, and, by virtue of such instrument, they were not delinquent in such items. The terms stated on the note itself are a complete answer to the defendants' contention. It specifically states that it is not in payment of delinquent payments due under the terms of the contract and does not in any way alter, modify, or change any of the conditions of said contract. Referring to a part of said defendants' Exhibit 2, among other things, it reads as follows:

“It is expressly understood that it has no connection whatsoever with the contract, wherein we, the undersigned, are purchasing from said payees certain real estate located in Salt Lake City, Utah, and this

note does not in any way alter, modify, or change any of the conditions set forth in said contract, *nor is it in payment of delinquent payments due under the terms of said contract . . . .*

(Signed) E. L. GUILD,  
(Signed) MABEL GUILD"

In 21 R. C. L., Sec. 70, p. 70, on the subject of payment by note of debtor, it is stated:

"The general rule is that a note given by a debtor for a precedent debt will not be held to extinguish the debt, in the absence of an agreement to that effect, but will be considered as conditional payment or as collateral security, or as an acknowledgment or memorandum of the amount ascertained to be due . . . "

In 48 C. J., page 610, it is stated:

"The rule obtaining in most jurisdictions is that, in the absence of agreement or consent to receive it as such, a draft or bill of exchange, although accepted by the drawee, or a promissory note of the debtor, or his acceptance of a draft or bill of exchange drawn upon him, does not in itself constitute payment or amount to a discharge of the debt . . . "

Similar contentions were made by the purchasers of certain real estate in the case of

Malmstrom v. Second East Apartment Co.,  
74 Utah 206; 278 P. 811, wherein the Court stated:

"It is claimed that the plaintiff waived whatever rights he had under the for-

feiture provisions of the contract by accepting the note above mentioned for some of the installments and other items, by accepting post-dated checks for some of the payments at the conference had in March or April when the note was given, and by accepting payments throughout the period of Joseph Fargeson's possession after they were due. The defense of waiver was not set up in the pleadings in the case, and we might brush the question aside on that ground. But we prefer to dispose of it on the merits. The evidence upon the point, considered as a whole, does not support the claim. In the first place, as to the note, the Gargesons failed to make the first payment provided for therein. While the acceptance of the note extended the time for payment of the items which it includes, it should not be held to constitute a waiver in case the Fargesons failed to pay the note. A seller does not waive his right to rescind the contract, or, as in this case, to recover possession of the property by granting to the purchaser an extension of time in which to make payment, if the purchaser refuses to pay when the time fixed by the new agreement has elapsed. 29 Cyc. 1393; Machoid v. Farman, 14 Idaho 258, 94 P. 170; Boulder & B. Placer Co. v. Maxwell, et al, 24 Colo. 87, 48 P. 815. . . . The impression made upon the mind of this writer by a reading of the entire record many times is that Malmstrom showed a commendable spirit of forbearance toward the Fargesons all through his dealings with them; but that he nevertheless intended at all times to maintain all his



rights under the contract. It would certainly not be just for us to now say to him that, because he had been lenient toward his debtors, he had thereby lost his right to the possession of his own property to one who failed or refused to make the payments stipulated in the contract.”

In view of the express stipulations on the part of the defendants that the note did not constitute payment and did not in any way affect the contract in any manner, we cannot see any merit in the defendants’ contention that it was payment of the items claimed by them.

In the statement set forth at the outset of our brief, we pointed out that on January 18, 1940, the defendants had been served with notices terminating the contract upon the same grounds that the contract was finally terminated, and we also pointed out that on March 27, 1940, the defendants assigned all their right, title and interest in said contract to their son and daughter, (of which assignment the plaintiffs were not notified).

In the meantime the defendants made small subsequent payments and also made promises that they would pay up all delinquent payments as soon as Mr. Guild received a settlement from the Industrial Commission, which settlement amounted to \$1200.00 or \$1300.00. When this settlement was made with Mr. Guild, and before this suit was filed by the plaintiffs, the defendants tendered to the plaintiffs the sum of \$130.00. Although, at that time, they were in default in the sum of \$160.00, the defendants refused to pay the taxes, and the insurance premiums and urged the plaintiffs to bring suit against them on the note. It is a very apparent fact that the defendants were trying to defeat

the plaintiffs from collecting the items mentioned in the note by taking the stand that the note was payment and, in view of the assignment to their son and daughter, a judgment based on the note would be worthless and uncollectible.

Unfortunately, the plaintiffs had not accepted Exhibit 2 as payment. In spite of this note, there were other grounds (which are set forth in the notices terminating the contract) which were ample for forfeiting the same; that is, the failure to pay the monthly installments and their failure to erect the improvements stipulated in the contract. Partial payments or offers to perform are unavailing.

Cassiday v. Adamson, (Iowa), 224 N. W. 508.

Great Western Inv. Co. v. Anderson, (Wash.), 297 P. 1087.

It would be permissible for the defendants to prove, if they could, that they were not in default in the performance of any of the covenants in the contract which the plaintiffs have alleged they (the defendants) were in default, and that they performed, or tendered performance, before the forfeiture of the contract.

Great Western Inv. Co. v. Anderson, (Wash.), 297 P. 1087.

Dineen v. Olson, (Kan.), 85 P. 538.

Haile v. Smith, (Cal.), 45 P. 872.

Schubert v. Lowe, (Cal.), 223 P. 550.

The evidence is undisputed that the defendants were in default in all of the items stated in the notices of forfeiture.

There are several assignments of error that this Court should not consider. The assignments numbered 7, 8, and 10 are, according to numerous de-

cisions of the court, too general and indefinite; besides assignments of error, such as the assignments here numbered 7 and 10, merely attack the judgment. The assignment of error numbered 9 should not be considered, for the reason that the objection thereby urged was not presented to or passed upon by the trial court, by pleading, as it might have been (*White v. Century Gold Min. & Mill. Co.*, 28 Utah 311, 78 P. 868; *Busby v. Century Gold Min. Co.*, 27 Utah 231, 75 P. 725), nor was the question of the reasonableness or sufficiency of the notice of forfeiture, as to time, form, or otherwise, an issue litigated on the trial. These are questions that cannot be made for the first time on appeal.

*Salt Lake Inv. Co. v. Fox*, 37 Utah 334; 108 P. 1132.

*Summit County v. Gustaveson*, 18 Utah 351; 54 P. 977.

We do not find that appellants have discussed the 7th or 10th assignments in their brief.

As to the subject of the 8th assignment of error, viz., that "the court erred in refusing to consider the equitable issues presented by the pleadings," the appellants, in describing the contents of their answer, say, that they admit that they agreed to make certain improvements, and the plaintiffs had, after execution of the contract, considered the improvements specified in the contract to be undesirable, *and had waived the provisions of the contract with respect thereto*; and they say, that the defendants had made improvements on the property to the approximate cost and value of \$2,000. The appellants further say: "The evidence was in conflict as to the waiver of the contract requirements regarding the building of the front porch and stuccoing of the rear. The defendants offered proof to the effect that they had, since the execu



tion of the contract, improved the property to the extent of \$2,000." And, finally, they say, "The pleadings disclose issues upon the following questions: . . . (6) Whether in equity the court should declare a forfeiture of a contract for the purchase of a house and lot upon which more than one-third of the principal amount has been paid and where \$2,000 in valuable improvements have been placed on the property."

Disregarding the rule which prevails in this and a majority of the States, that equitable defenses are not admissible in actions of unlawful detainer, and assuming that the defendants have some equity, the latter does not exist by reason of the so-called improvements made by them. Even in California, where the courts recognize equitable defenses in actions for the recovery of possession of real property, it has been held that the making of such improvements is no defense, and in

Haile v. Smith, 128 Cal. 415; 60 P. 1032, an action of ejectment by a vendor against a defaulting vendee, the Court said:

"He (defendant) received possession of the land from respondent under the contract, and can retain possession only by fulfilling his covenants which he therein made. He cannot keep both the land and the purchase money. It is not necessary, therefore, for the purposes of this case, to determine definitely whether or not respondent had a good and sufficient title. If appellant desired to retain the possession which he acquired under the contract, he should have complied with his part of it. Whatever cause of action he may have for the purchase money which he paid and for the value of his improvements is another

matter. *It constitutes no defense to the present action.*" In

*Drollinger v. Carson*, 97 Kan. 502; 155 P. 923, heretofore cited, the Court said:

"The only basis for a claim that the judgment is inequitable on the facts is a showing that the defendants had expended \$900 in the improvement of the property. Much of this expenditure — perhaps \$200 — was for items of ordinary repairs and maintenance, such as papering and painting, which served the purpose of the occupants as much as that of the owner. Some of it — possibly a greater amount — was for changes which would not necessarily add to the value of the real estate, at least in proportion to their cost, and which may not have been desired by the plaintiff."

And further:

One who occupies land under a contract, providing that he shall have the title upon completing the purchase price, but must give up the property if he makes default, has no absolute right with respect to improvements he may make. His agreement gives him none, and the occupying claimant's act . . . does not apply, for he is not within its letter or spirit. 16 A. & E. Encycl. of L. 96. The ordinary rule is that he is allowed no compensation for his betterments, although there are cases to the contrary. 16 A. & E. Encycl. of L. 97; 39 Cyc. 1401. Whatever concession is made to him in this regard must result from circumstances rendering it inequitable that he should lose his entire investment — a matter to be determined upon the facts of each

particular case. The trial court evidently concluded that, inasmuch as the defendants had had the use of the property during the period of more than five years that the contract had been in force, equity did not require any allowance to them on account of what they had invested in permanent improvements.

In Kansas, as in California, equitable defenses are admissible in unlawful detainer actions. In both States, it is settled that justices of the peace are without equitable jurisdiction or power, and an action of forcible detainer must be determined as an action at law.

Dineen v. Olson, 73 Kan. 379; 85 P. 538.

Linder v. Warnock, 91 Kan. 272; 137 P. 962; Ann. Cas. 1915C 314.

Richmond v. Superior Court, 9 Cal. App. 62; 98 P. 57.

Schubert v. Lowe, 193 Cal. 291; 223 P. 550.

In the Dineen case, it was held that "for the purpose of determining the right of possession, questions of title, legal or equitable, may be incidentally considered;" but that, "if, outside of the question of possession, he has rights concerning crops, improvements, or of any other nature, they can be adjusted in any appropriate proceeding without embarrassment on account of this judgment, as it is not a bar to any after action brought by either party." However, the general rule in both States is, that if title, either legal or equitable, is involved, as in suits between vendor and vendee, growing out of a contract of sale, they must be tried in a court of general jurisdiction.

Linder v. Warnock, *supra*.

Richmond v. Superior Court, *supra*.

In an unlawful detainer action the only issue is the right of possession (*Williams v. Nelson*, 65 Utah 304, 237 P. 217; *Richardson v. King*, 51 Idaho 736, 10 P. (2d) 323; *Aegerter v. Hayes*, 55 S. D. 337, 226 N. W. 345; *William Weisman Holding Co. v. Miller*, 152 Minn. 320, 188 N. W. 732) and if other issues are injected into an action for the possession of real property, which at first was one of unlawful detainer, it becomes an action in ejectment or to quiet title.

*Henderson v. Miglietta*, 206 Cal. 125; 273 P. 581.

*Thompson v. Reynolds*, 53 Utah 437; 174 P. 164.

And so, as was held in

*Dunbar v. Hansen*, 68 Utah 398; 250 P. 982,

if there is any equitable reason why the tenant should not be ousted, he must institute an action in a court of general jurisdiction to determine the equities; and, if he does, the Court can determine such questions as were determined in

*Croft v. Jensen*, 86 Utah 13; 40 P. (2d) 198.

But, in such a plenary action by the defendants here, we do not believe the question of their improvements of the property involved would be of consequence, especially in view of contract provision that in case of their default, any improvements made by them shall be forfeited to the vendor.

27 R. C. L., Sec. 428.

66 C. J. 1050.

*Pillow v. McLean*, (Tex. Civ. App.), 91 S. W. (2d) 898.

*Chowchilla Col. Co. v. Thompson*, 39 Cal. App. 517; 179 P. 411. In

Herpel v. Herpel, 162 Mich. 606; 127 N. W.  
763,

the Court held, that where complainant sold land to defendant on monthly payments for the life of the complainant, and reserved a life estate, permanent improvements made by defendant of his own accord will be presumed to have been made for his own benefit, and so not to entitle him to credit therefor on such payments. And see

Cent. Dig. Vendor and Purchaser, Sec. 413.

Dec. Dig. Vendor and Purchaser, Sec. 201.

And when the question of such improvements is properly in issue, the inquiry relates to the extent to which the value of the property has been enhanced by the improvements, not the cost to the purchaser.

Tyler v. Burgeson, 229 Mich. 268; 201  
N. W. 185.

Collins v. Creason, 55 Or. 524; 106 P. 445.

66 C. J. 796, Secs. 412-419.

27 R. C. L. 665, Par. 428.

While the defendants allege that the provision of the contract as to building and remodeling porches was "waived," no facts showing such waiver are alleged, and they ignore the rule that such provisions are not the subject of waiver. If the making of such improvements were dispensed with, it must have been by an agreement modifying the contract in that respect; and, as we have shown, such agreement must have been in writing and upon a sufficient consideration. The reason is, as stated in

McKenzie v. Harrison, 120 N. Y. 260; 24  
N. E. 458.

8 L. R. A. 257; 17 Am. St. Rep. 638,

"that it is not safe or prudent to permit  
the (written) contract to be modified or

changed by the testimony of witnesses as to the parol statements or agreements of parties.”

The distinction is between the contract itself and subsequent performance,

Scheerschmidt v. Smith, 74 Minn. 224; 77  
N. W. 34,

The appellant, Edward L. Guild, by his own testimony conclusively proves the default as to the improvements. In reciting the conversation upon which appellants rely as a waiver of this provision, this appellant said:

“We told them what we intended to do was to make a small porch at the entrance but not complete the porch as we had agreed on in the first place. We did not do anything with the porch.” (Ab. 16-17; Tr. 116).

So if we assume the claim of appellants as to a modification the testimony is conclusive that the modification, as proposed by appellants, was not complied with and the default as to this was complete.

---

## CONCLUSION

In this case appellants went into the possession of the property of respondents, and had a right to remain in possession only so long as they complied with the provisions of the contract under which they obtained possession.

The sole question is whether they were in default.

Brandley v. Lewis, 92 P (2d) 338.

The complaint sets forth a straight unlawful detainer action. The answer, when shaken down to



the admissible elements of defense in this character of action, sets up two alleged defenses:

1. That the default in the agreement to make improvements was waived.
2. That there was no default of payments on the contract or of taxes or of insurance premiums because a note was given.

It will be noticed that the right of re-possession in case of any of these four defaults is absolute in this agreement. The existence of all four defaults is established here beyond controversy and in such a way that the jury could not have found otherwise, and if so found, the court would have been called upon to set aside the verdict.

The default as to improvements is admitted as above shown. The default of payment upon the agreement was so clear as to involve no question for the jury.

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